
Summons to Meeting

Thursday 22 March 2018

Development Panel
Tuesday 3 April 2018, 1.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Dean Devine on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes of meeting Tuesday 6 March 2018 of Development Panel  (Pages 3 

- 6)

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

Page 1



5. 2/2018/0042 - Land At Moss Bay Road, Workington - Variation of 
Conditions 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of 2/2011/0227 for amendment to play area 
position, boundary treatments and surfacing and to secure timing and 
implementation for completion of all works  (Pages 7 - 22)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
76462

6. 2/2017/0523 - 20 Laithwaite Close, Cockermouth - Proposed change of use 
of two residential rooms to accommodate a chiropody/podiatry practice  
(Pages 23 - 30)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
69303

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 1 May 2018, 1.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington

Page 2

http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176462
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=176462
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=169303
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=169303


At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 6 March 2018 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor Philip Tibble

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Janet Farebrother, Councillor 
Mark Jenkinson and Councillor David Wilson

Staff Present

S Bewsher, B Carlin, D Devine, C Fearon, K Hampson, K Kerrigan, S Long, 
A Seekings, S Tranter and R Wilkinson

Also Present

P Kendall

357. Minutes of meeting Tuesday 6 February 2018 of Development Panel 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2018 were signed as a correct 
record.

358. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

359. Questions 

None received.

360. 2/2017/0472 - Main Road, Maryport - Outline application for the demolition 
of factory unit and replace with up to 65 new dwellings with all matters 
reserved (resubmission) 

Representations

Chris Austin spoke in objection to the application.

Councillor Peter Kendall spoke on behalf of Maryport Town Council in objection 
to the application.

Application

The Principal Planning Officer recommended refusal.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



The Principal Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

 Principle of Development

Policy S12 seeks to protect existing employment sites until reviewed 
through the site allocation process which has not be undertaken to date. 
Furthermore, Policy DM3 protects existing and allocated employment 
sites against non-employment uses to help ensure that there is a 
sufficient supply of employment land to meet the areas economic 
development requirements over the plan period. From the information 
that has been submitted with the application the applicant has not 
considered adequately alternative uses prior to the development of the 
site for housing. Officers consider the principle of developing the site for 
housing is contrary to Policy S12 and DM3 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

 Amenity

Officers consider in the absence of layout the applicant has not 
demonstrated that a satisfactory standard of residential amenity for future 
occupiers of the proposed dwellings can be achieved. Concern is also 
raised that the proposed housing development may prejudice the 
compatibility and delivery of existing and future B2 industrial land uses 
within the neighbouring industrial estates. The proposal is considered 
contrary to Policy S2, S4, S32 and DM14 Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014 and NPPF.

 Access

Officers are satisfied that an acceptable form of access(s) can be 
achieved at the site.

 Flood Risk and Drainage

The submitted FRA concludes that the area is not at risk of flooding and 
the drainage scheme is acceptable.

 Ecology

The submitted Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey considered the impact 
of demolishing the 3 buildings on site and all other ecological species. 
Whist Building 1 and 3 were assessed as having negligible bat roost 
potential, Building 2 was assessed as having low bat roost potential. A 
further Bat Survey showed no signs of bats emerging from the Building 
and the loss of this building will have no potential impact on roasting 
bats. The proposal is in accordance with Policy S35 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report. Members also noted 

Page 4



additional comments received from Environmental Health with regard to noise 
and a further letter of objection from a neighbour of the property.

Councillor N Cockburn moved that the application be refused as per the officer’s 
recommendation. This was seconded by Councillor P Tibble.

A vote was taken on the motion. The vote in favour of refusal was unanimous. 
The motion was carried.

Decision

Refused

Reasons

1. The proposal will result in the loss of an existing employment site under 
Part 1 of the Allerdale Local Plan. The applicant has failed to 
demonstrate that the proposal complies with Policy S12 and DM3 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and Paragraphs 17, 18 
and 19 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. The Local Planning Authority consider in the absence of layout 
insufficient evidence has been submitted to demonstrate a satisfactory 
standard of residential amenity can be achieved for the future occupiers 
of the proposed dwellings The proposed residential development would 
potentially prejudice the operation of existing and future B2 industrial 
land uses within the neighbouring industrial estate contrary to Policy S2, 
S4 and S32 and the National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 17, 
58, 61, 109, 122 and 123.

361. 2/2018/0018 - Robian, Bolton Wood Lane, Wigton - Erection of a dwelling 
associated with agricultural contracting business 

Representations

The applicant’s representative, Ken Thompson spoke in support of the 
application.

Application

The Principal Planning Officer recommended refusal.

The Principal Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

 Principle of Development 

The application site is located in the open countryside outside any 
defined settlement limit. The information provided has not demonstrated 
that there is an essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or 
near to their place of work to meet the functional requirements of the 
business.

Page 5



The Local Planning Authority considers the proposed dwelling constitutes 
an inappropriate, non-essential form of residential development in the 
open countryside outside of the defined settlement limits and would 
therefore be contrary to the provisions of Policies S3 and DM2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 2014 and paragraph 55 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Councillor M Grainger moved that the application be approved on the grounds 
that the applicant’s representative had made a case proving that there was an 
essential need for the proposed dwelling in order to meet the needs of the 
applicant’s business and that planning conditions be delegated to officers 
including a condition restricting the occupancy of the dwelling to the associated 
business or other rural worker. This was seconded by Councillor R Munby.

A vote was taken on the motion. 7 voted in favour and 3 against. The motion 
was carried.

Decision

Approved

The meeting closed at 1.55 pm

Page 6



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2018/0042

Proposed 
Development:

Variation of Conditions 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of 2/2011/0227 for 
amendment to play area position, boundary treatments and 
surfacing and to secure timing and implementation for completion 
of all works

Location: Land At
Moss Bay Road
Workington

Applicant: Miss Abigail Kos
Persimmon Homes Lancashire

Recommendation: APPROVE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Location The location of the play area has already been agreed under a 
previous application. Other possible locations have been explored 
but deemed inappropriate due to the constraints of these locations.

Play Equipment The revised play equipment specification is an improvement to 
previous proposals and is considered an appropriate level if play 
provision for the site.

Site

The application site comprises a residential housing estate situated to the west of the 
A597 in the town of Workington.

The estate is bound to the west by the west coast railway line, to the north by an area of 
trees and bushes, to the east by Jubilee Cottages, which are elevated to the estate, and 
to the south by the playing fields known as The Ranch.

Proposal

The current application looks to vary conditions 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the planning approval 
relating to the residential estate. The proposal would facilitate the provision of a play area 
and associated works within an existing area of open space to the north east of the site. 

Condition 2 lists the approved plans for the site.
Condition 3 relates to the landscaping scheme for the site.
Condition 4 relates to the means of enclosure for the site.

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Condition 5 relates to the treatment and finishes to the surfaces within the site.
Condition 6 relates to the play equipment to be installed within the play area and limits 
the number of dwellings to be occupied on the site prior to the implementation of the play 
area to 80 dwellings.

There is currently a breach of condition 6 of planning approval 2/2011/0227 as the play 
area equipment has not been provided and installed prior to occupation of the 80th 
dwelling on the estate. 

Relevant Policies

National Planning Policy Framework
Chapter 6 - Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
Chapter 7 - Requiring good design
Chapter 8 - Promoting healthy communities

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S4 - Design principles  
Policy S21 - Developer contributions (excluding viability)

Relevant Planning History

2/2006/0914 – Erection of 138 dwellings at Former Corus Offices, Land off Mossbay 
Road, Workington – Approved 07/11/07

2/2008/0898 – Proposed revision to full planning permission 2/2006/0914, for the 
erection of 119 residential units comprising 3 no. one bedroom and 6 no. two bedroom 
apartments and 36 no. two bedroom and 74 no. three bedroom houses; associated roads 
and landscaping on Land off Moss Bay Road, Workington – Approved 11/09/09

2/2011/0227 – Proposed erection of 92 dwellings (including 13 affordable houses) on 
Land at Moss Bay Road, Workington – Approved 23/08/11

CON1/2011/0227 – Compliance with conditions 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10 and 16 on Land at 
Moss Bay Road, Workington – Approved 28/03/12

CON2/2011/0227 – Compliance with conditions 11, 17 and 18 on planning approval 
2/2011/0227 on Land at Moss Bay Road, Workington – Approved 09/04/13

CON3/2011/0227 – Compliance with condition 13 on planning approval 2/2011/0227 on 
Land off Moss Bay Road, Workington – Approved 19/09/12

CON4/2011/0227 – Compliance of condition 5 of planning approval 2/2011/0227 on Land 
off Moss Bay Road, Workington – Approved 17/07/13

CON5/2011/0227 – Compliance with conditions 12,14, 15 of planning approval 
2/2011/0227 on Land at Moss Bay Road, Workington – Approved 25/04/14

Page 8



CON6/2011/0227 – Approval of condition 5 of application 2/2011/0227 on Land off Moss 
Bay Road, Workington – Approved 07/04/14

2/2014/0552 – Application to vary condition 2 of planning approval 2/2011/0227 to update 
site plan with minor material amendments, change house type for plot 75, general 
dwelling arrangement, configuration changes to the access and an amendment to the 
allocation of parking spaces (including an increase in visitor parking) on Land off Moss 
Bay Road, Workington – Approved 24/10/14
 
CON8/2011/0227 – Application for approval of details reserved by conditions 3, 6 and 16 
to planning approval 2/2011/0227 including details relating to the play equipment and 
siting of the play area on Land at Moss Bay Road, Workington – Refused 02/06/17

CON9/2011/0227 – Compliance with conditions 4, 5 & 6 of planning approval 
2/2011/0227 relating to boundary treatments, surfaces and play area on land at Moss 
Bay road, Workington – Withdrawn following concerns that the proposed changes could 
not be accommodated under this application type.

Representations

Workington Town Council – The committee was disappointed to see a number of issues 
bundled up with the play area. Whilst welcoming the improvements to the play provision 
offered, they felt this undermined the importance of the play area and suggested that 
there may be some delay if the whole package wasn’t accepted. However the play area 
proposal is still deeply flawed. The access from the rest of the estate is unconvincing and 
poorly thought out. It requires more space for the access path – to enable prams to pass, 
and more thought should be given to screening the access and site from the 
neighbouring properties. Other changes to the site plan were not clear from the plans 
submitted. Recommend refusal.

Highways – No response to date.

The application has been advertised on site and in the press. The following 
representations have been received in letters received:

29 Objections consisting of 19 from residents from Jubilee Cottages, 7 from residents of 
the estate and 3 from other members of the public.

 There are current safety issues at the site with children playing.
 There is a lack of light at night time making more of a safety issue.
 Cars have to reverse along this stretch of road as the residents are having to park 

here due to a lack of parking.
 The road is a private road which residents have to maintain.
 The noise from the park will cause stress to disabled children who at times visit 

and stay with local residents. 
 Where would users of the play area park their vehicles?
 People will use the jubilee cottages lane to access the park.
 The presence of strangers and noise disruption from the park will scare and 

frighten the vulnerable residents of Jubilee Cottages.

Page 9



 There is already an issue with dog fouling along Jubilee Cottages these residents 
do not wish to have more litter and rubbish left behind.

 Parks bring antisocial behaviour from teenagers which would be distressing to the 
residents of Jubilee Cottages.

 The residents of Jubilee Cottages were told by Persimmon that the play area 
would be at the other end of the site.

 Residents from the wider locality will not be happy with their children crossing the 
road to access the park.

 As the area has no lighting and is located next to a wooded area there would be a 
safety risk to children.

 Young children sleeping in nearby properties will be kept awake.
 The lack of access and parking leading to the site would create a problem for 

emergency vehicles should they have to get to the site.
 The site is not big enough or suitable for a play area.
 When sold the adjacent properties, residents were not advised that the play area 

would be located at the end of the private road.
 The construction of a path into the embankment would lead to an increase in flood 

risk to the adjacent properties.
 The park will lead to a loss of privacy to adjacent residents.
 The logical place for the play area would be at The Ranch.
 The play area does not meet the minimum distance standards.
 How could the house adjacent safely maintain the exterior of their property in the 

future?
 The fencing around the park isn’t secure enough.
 The seat should be moved back to keep the noise to a minimum and the 

congregation of children out of site.

12 Support
 Suggest additional lighting in the area to further improve the scheme.
 The issues with parking and reversing in this part of the estate apply whether the 

park is located in this area or not.
 The play area was always going to be in this area so cannot see what the hold-up 

is.
 Children play all over the estate in the dark, this area is no different.
 The area can already be used by children as it is classed as open space, the 

presence of a play area or not does not prevent children being able to play here.
 There is no other space on the site big enough to accommodate the play area.

In addition, a solicitor’s letter has been received with the following points:
 The planning approval under 2/2011/0227 did not actually include the local area 

for play. These details should have been provided as part of this application and 
not reserved for subsequent approval. The application cannot therefore be varied.

 The conditions referred to in this application require submission of details before 
development commenced. The applicant cannot rely on the grounds that the 
original planning permission was lawfully implemented. The proposed 
amendments cannot be facilitated through Section 73. 

 The proposed wording of the new condition is defective and fails to meet relevant 
tests for imposing a planning condition, particularly in relation to precision and 

Page 10



reasonableness. 
 The layout in this area of the development is not designed to accommodate a play 

area.
 The adjacent property is entitled to expect a reasonable standard or amenity. The 

provision of a play area in this position would result in a substantial loss of privacy. 
 The play area would further affect the residential amenity of neighbouring 

properties due to the generation of noise. This appears to be supported by the 
advice of Playdale Playgrounds.

 There is significant risk that the play area will attract teenagers during anti-social 
hours. The location and lack or enclosure or control of the play area may lead to 
anti-social behaviour, conflict with residents and increase the risk of crime. 

 The Local Planning Authority should take into account the long term management 
of the play are and how this would be legally secured.

Assessment

Background

The residential estate at this site was approved with an on-site play area in accordance 
with the Council’s formerly adopted Local Plan policies. Under these policy criteria, the 
developer was to normally provide an area with five pieces of play equipment which was 
considered to be reasonable and proportional to the scale of the residential development. 
The details and delivery of these items were secured via planning conditions. The estate 
was modified under additional housing applications during the course of its construction 
but retained the principle of securing a play area as part of the overall development. 

The play area was approved under CON1/2011/0227 to the north east of the site in an 
area of open space. Following this approval, a subsequent application to amend the site 
layout under 2/2014/0552 meant the details approved under CON1/2011/0227 were 
constrained and could be difficult to be implemented. 

The developer subsequently requested consideration of an application for alternative off 
site financial contribution to enhance an existing playground area in the locality. Officers 
rejected this option as the other play areas in the locality were a significant distance from 
the site and also involved crossing a busy highway. Other off site alternatives were 
dismissed on access grounds or distance. 

A further application was submitted under CON8/2011/0227 under which the applicants 
proposed a revised location for the play area to the north west boundary of the site as 
well as a revised play equipment provision. This proposal was considered at a meeting of 
the development panel on 30th May 2017, during which it was determined that this 
proposal was inappropriate in terms of location and equipment provision. This discharge 
of condition application was duly refused on the grounds that, ‘The Local Planning 
Authority consider that the proposed location of the play area within the landscaping 
scheme is inappropriate and the proposed play equipment is inadequate for the approved 
housing estate development’. 

In the absence of any play area or equipment there is currently a breach of planning 
control relating to these works. 

Page 11



The current application seeks approval for provision of the play area to the north east of 
the site as originally approved under CON1/2011/0227. The applicant proposes a slight 
adjustmet in position within this area towards the wooded area, with enhancements to the 
access arrangements and equipment provision. Approval is sought to vary conditions 2, 
3, 4, 5 and 6 to facilitate this provision and secure timely implementation. 

Play Area Position

The application reverts the position back to the north east of the site, as approved under 
CON1/2011/0227. The applicant indicates that this will be surfaced with a black wet 
poured EPDM mix with red PCC edging. The boundary treatment would be a 900mm 
high metal estate fence. The applicant has submitted indicative plans of this fence which 
incorporates a bow-top rail.

This location has met with some objections from local residents who raise concerns that 
at the time of purchase they were not advised either that there was a play area proposed 
or that it would be located in this position. In contrast, other residents comment that they 
were made aware of this position at the time of purchase. 

Whilst it may be that residents of the estate have received differing information relating to 
the play area at the time of purchase, it remains that the location proposed for the play 
area has already been approved under CON1/2011/0227. There are a number of other 
areas of open space within the site, however, these are all constrained in terms of the 
feasibility of housing play equipment, given that they are either situated on sloping land, 
have public access issues or are too small to accommodate any play equipment. The 
developers’ application to re-locate the play area to the north west of the site was refused 
by development panel under CON8/2011/0227. In the absence of any other suitable sites 
for the play area and given that the play area has already been approved in this location, 
this position is considered suitable subject to other constraints. 

‘The Ranch’, which is adjacent to the development site, has been referred to in 
comments made as a location more suited to the siting of a play area. It is understood 
this land lies outside the control of the applicant and is therefore not considered an 
alternative location for the play area. 

Access

The applicant proposes a new pedestrian access to the site by means of a footpath from 
the highway. This footpath would run alongside the shared drive/access serving 46, 48, 
50, 52 and 54 Railbank Drive. The footpath would be separated from the access drive by 
a 750mm timber knee rail and surfaced with black tarmac. 

Comments have been received from residents that there is no lighting or footpath to this 
area of the estate. The existing access road serves dwellings to this part of the 
development and is private. 

The Town Council also raises concerns over the proposed access to the site, suggesting 
more space is needed for the access path and additional screening is needed between 

Page 12



the access path, play area and neighbouring properties. 

As referred to above, the developers intend to construct a footpath and fence alongside 
the boundary of the adjacent drive/access. The plans submitted suggest the footpath 
could be accommodated, with the fence forming a barrier between the private access 
drive and the footpath, ensuring residents can continue to access their properties. The 
developer has not provided any information to suggest these works would not be 
possible without interfering with land outside their control/ownership. 

The fence is of a height, form and distance from the dwellings that it is considered this 
would not significantly impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of these dwellings. The 
provision of further screening to the access and play area would potentially lead the play 
area feel more isolated from the estate. Similarly, lighting is not generally insisted upon 
around play sites as these are only intended for use during daylight hours. 

In this case, the applicants’ proposal to install a footpath provides an appropriate 
pedestrian access for users of the play area. 

Amenity

Several concerns have been raised relating to the impact of the play area development 
upon the residential amenity of adjacent properties and on the elderly residents at Jubilee 
Cottages.

Objectors raise concerns that the play area does not meet the minimum distance 
standards from adjacent dwellings. Reference is made to these distances in the Playdale 
equipment sheet provided by the applicant. 

The applicant has advised that this detail was taken from the Fields in Trust Guidance. 
They also add that in this instance, the play area has already been approved in this 
location. On this basis and in the absence of alternative sites available within the site, the 
play equipment is proposed to be sited in this area of open space.  

Residents of Jubilee Cottages have objected with comments relating to the potential for 
users of the play area to use the access road to Jubilee Cottages as access to the play 
area. It is suggested that this could cause disturbance to the residents of these cottages 
as users may cross the front gardens of these properties, leave litter and create 
additional noise. 

The play area is intended for use by the residents of the Forgehill estate. Whilst there 
may be visitors from nearby areas, its primary purpose is to serve these residents. 
Access is provided within the estate and it is not expected that the access road serving 
Jubilee Cottages be used as access to the site.  

Concerns are expressed that the play area and access have the potential to impact upon 
the privacy of the adjacent properties as well as to create noise and potentially be an 
area for anti-social behaviour. As discussed above, the play area has previously been 
approved in this location. It is currently an area of open space within the site and can be 
used by children and residents of the estate. Given its current and approved use, the 

Page 13



revised play equipment provision, additional surfacing and boundary treatments are 
considered acceptable for the site. 

Safety

A resident from the wider locality raises concerns that the site would be accessed by 
children from outside the residential estate, leading to potential safety issues as children 
cross the A597 at Moss Bay Road. As discussed above, the play area is intended for use 
by residents of the estate and pedestrian access within the site has been provided as 
part of the proposal.  

Objectors also suggested that this location would encourage children to access the 
adjacent wooded area creating a safety risk to children. The area is currently used as an 
area of open space and has previously been approved as the location for the play area.

Flood Risk

Residents refer to an existing issue with water run-off from the embankment adjacent 
leading to flooding at adjacent properties during periods of heavy rainfall. The applicants 
have been asked to provide details of proposed drainage details in association with the 
proposed footpath and play area. They suggest that run off from the hardstanding areas 
of the play area and access path could be handled by an adjacent drainage trench. 

Play Equipment Provision

Condition 6 of 2/2011/0227, relevant to the current application, requires that details of 
play equipment be provided for the approved play area. The details submitted under 
CON8/2011/0227 were considered inadequate for the estate. The current application 
amends this specification to include additional play equipment.

Despite concerns from objectors that the play equipment appears too large for the site, 
the revised details are considered an improvement to those proposed under 
CON8/2011/0227. The applicant and their provider have provided a layout plan which 
shows the equipment can be accommodated. On the basis that the specification for the 
play equipment has been improved, and that a layout plan demonstrating the equipment 
can be accommodated in this position has been provided, the play equipment proposed 
is considered suitable for the estate.

Legal 

Objections have been received in the form of a solicitor’s letter on behalf of a resident of 
the Forgehill estate. 

The letter suggests that the proposal introduces new development as the original 
planning application did not actually include the local area for play. These details were 
reserved for subsequent approval. It is suggested that Section 73 is therefore not 
appropriate in this case as this would be used to facilitate an amendment to a condition.  

The details of the play area and original specification for play provision were approved 

Page 14



under CON1/2011/0227 following planning approval 2/2011/0227. The current application 
looks to vary not only condition 2, which sets out the approved drawings for the 
development, but also conditions 3, 4, 5 and 6 relating specifically to the play area, 
landscaping and finishes within the site. In varying these conditions, the approved details 
can be amended and the proposed revisions accommodated.  

The objection suggests that Section 73 requires that the original planning permission 
must have been lawfully implemented. It is indicated that the wording attached to the 
conditions to be varied, namely ‘before development commences’, means that in this 
case, these conditions have been breached and Section 73 does not necessarily apply.  

The issue of the requirement of things to be done prior to commencement of 
development was discussed in R (Hart Aggregates Ltd) v Hartlepool BC (2005), in which 
it was established  that the development as a whole will only be unlawful if the condition 
‘goes to the heart of the permission’. It is clear from the Hart Aggregates case that if the 
condition is concerned with only minor details, failure to comply with that condition may 
be no more than a simple breach of condition, but if the condition is concerned with some 
aspect of the development which is of more fundamental importance, then it may be seen 
to be a true ‘condition precedent’, the breach of which may render the entire development 
unlawful. 

In this case, the conditions, although relevant to the planning permission, are not 
considered to be a true condition precedent. Whilst the applicants are currently in breach 
of condition, the development as a whole is not deemed to be unlawful. An approval has 
already been obtained by the developer for the proposed play area, although the 
approved details have not been implemented. Section 73 can be used to vary or remove 
conditions to seek amendments to a planning permission where there are relevant 
conditions that can be varied to accommodate the change. In this case, the conditions 
listed can be amended to secure the amendments proposed. 

The objection also suggests that the wording of the new condition is defective and fails to 
meet relevant tests for imposing a planning condition, particularly with regards precision 
and reasonableness. It is unclear which wording this statements references. However, 
the proposed varied conditions are considered both precise and reasonable in that they 
specify a requirement in relation to the development and, where necessary, indicate a 
timeframe for expected compliance.

The current application would improve the play area provision and provide an access to 
the proposed play area. Taking a pragmatic approach and considering that there is not a 
true condition precedent in this case, the Local Planning Authority, in considering this 
application, looks to resolve the current breach whilst considering the issues relevant to 
resolving the breach, namely to provide appropriate access.  

The objection also refers to loss of amenity. This issue has been discussed earlier in the 
report.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal would not 

Page 15



result in any local financial benefits. 

Summary

The proposal seeks approval for an improved specification of play equipment to that 
already approved under CON1/2011/0227, within the north east corner of the 
development site. To access this area, the applicant also proposes a footpath from the 
highway. The application therefore looks to vary conditions relevant to this aspect of the 
original development, namely, the conditions relevant to boundary treatments, surfacing 
and finishes as well as the provision of play equipment. 

The applicant also agrees that time limitations can be included within the revised wording 
of the condition 6 to secure implementation of the proposed play area within a short 
timeframe. 

The play equipment proposed is of a better standard that those suggested and refused 
under a previous application CON8/2011/0227. The equipment proposed is considered to 
be appropriate for a residential development of this size. 

The applicant proposes access via a footpath to be constructed adjacent to a shared 
driveway/access serving a number of properties in this area of the estate. This access 
would be separated from the private shared access adjacent via a timber fence. Despite 
objections received in relation to the proposed access arrangements, the applicant has 
demonstrated that pedestrian access can be achieved on land within their control and 
without significant harm to the amenity and existing access to these properties adjacent.

The developers have examined the possibility of re-siting the play area to other areas of 
open space within the Forgehill site, all of which are constrained or have been deemed 
inappropriate. The developers now propose to provide an access to the approved site 
and have suggested an improved specification of play equipment. The details submitted 
are considered an improvement to the previously agreed play area arrangement. It is 
therefore recommended that the application be approved. 

Some conditions on the original consent decision have been deleted due to the 
implementation of their details.

Page 16



Annex 1

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
PL01 - Red Line Plan 
PL02 - Site Plan 
PL03 - Sketch of Forward Visibility Splays 
PL04 - Street Scenes 
PL05 - Streetscene Key Drawing 
C001 - Autotrack Analysis for Large Refuse Vehicle 
NFDS-138 - Detached Garages Single bay and Double Bay - Floor 
Plan/Elevations
NFDS-138 - Roseberry Detached 4 Bed Unit Elevations Village Style 
NFDS-138 - Roseberry Detached 4 Bed Unit Floor Plans Village Style 
NFDS-138 - Swale Terrace x 3, 3 Bed Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Swale Terrace x 3, 3 Bed Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Rufford Detached 3 Bed Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Rufford Detached 3 Bed Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Hatfield Detached 3 Bed Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Hatfield Detached 3 Bed Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Penrose Terrace x 4, 2 Bed Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Penrose Terrace x 4, 2 Bed Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Roseberry XL Detached 4 Bed Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Roseberry XL Detached 4 Bed Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Greyfriars, 3 Bed, 3ST. Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Greyfriars, 3 Bed, 3ST. Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Dormer Bungalow Detached 2/3 Bed Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Dormer Bungalow Detached 2/3 Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Hanbury Semi Detached 3 Bed Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Hanbury Semi Detached 3 Bed Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Rufford Semi Detached 3 Bed Unit Elevations 
NFDS-138 - Rufford Semi Detached 3 Bed Unit Floor Plans 
NFDS-138 - Conservatory Elevations/Floor Plans 
Noise Assessment report dated March 2011 (ref A032608- 1)
154.PPS.01 - Play Path Park - Section
863-1 Rev Z - Engineering Layout
863-13 Rev C - Private drainage
FHW: 305 Revision L - Fencing plan
Playdale Site layout
Playdale equipment
FHW: 304 Revision H - External finishes plan
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

Page 17



2. The landscaping relating to the play area and associated works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the submitted landscaping scheme hereby 
approved within the next available planting season. Any trees or plants 
planted under the approved landscaping plan for the estate which within a 
period of five years of planting die, are removed, or become seriously 
damaged or diseased, shall be replaced with others of similar size and 
species.

       Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014.

3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with Fencing Plan FHW: 
305 Revision L. The means of enclosure shall be brought into use prior to the 
play area being brought into use. All means of enclosure shall be retained and 
no part thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development, in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 
2014.

4. The development shall be carried out in accordance with External Finishes 
Plan FHW: 304 Revision H. The external finishes shall be brought into use 
prior to the play area being brought into use.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development, in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 
2014.

5. The play equipment hereby approved shall be installed and available for use 
within 3 months of the date of this approval. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved scheme and shall be retained for the 
lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision of open space in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014.

6. Any rainwater harvesting facilities implemented at the site under condition 11 
of 2/2011/0227  at the site shall not be removed without the prior approval of 
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 
2014.

7. The visibility splays implemented at the access junction of the development 
site and the A597 shall be retained and remain unobstructed throughout the 
lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014.

8. Details of the surface water drainage scheme relating to the play area and 
access path shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. 
The drainage scheme for the residential development shall be implemented 

Page 18



prior to the play area being brought into use and shall be maintained 
operational thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) July 2014.

9. All noise mitigation measures associated with glazing and ventilation 
specifications shall be implemented in accordance with sections 6.1, 6.2 and 
6.3 of Noise Assessment Report dated March 2011 (ref A032608-1).
Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory standard of development.

10.  Within 3 months of the date of this approval, a validation report confirming the 
implementation of the details required in condition 9 shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

       Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory standard of development.

Proactive Statement

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and where appropriate 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal to 
address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Notes to Applicant:

Page 19



Location plan

P
age 20



Location plan showing larger view

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 22



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2017/0523

Proposed 
Development:

Proposed change of use of two residential rooms to accommodate 
a chiropody/ podiatry practice

Location: 20 Laithwaite Close
Cockermouth

Applicant: Mrs Adele Holmes
Cockermouth Chiropody/ Podiatry

Recommendation: Approve

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principal Acceptable use of part of the dwelling to accommodate a 
chiropody/ podiatry practice. Subject to the restricted use of 1 clinic 
room and 1 reception area. 

Residential Amenity There have been neighbour concerns regarding additional use of 
the private road for the business activities and the upkeep of the 
road. Conditions are required to restrict days and hours of opening 
to safeguard residential amenity within the locality.

Access and Parking No objection from Cumbria Highways regarding access and 
parking

Proposal

Proposed change of use of 2 residential rooms to accommodate a chiropody/ podiatry 
practice. These rooms (1 clinic room and 1 reception/ waiting room) are currently used 
for the chiropody/ podiatry business. 

Since 2012 there has been a podiatry/ chiropody business running from the dwelling 
although initially this was as an ancillary use to the domestic dwelling not requiring 
planning permission, as agreed acceptable by the Council via letter in 2012.  Due to the 
expansion of the business, the applicant seeks to formalise the use of 2 rooms within the 
dwelling for the chiropody/ podiatry purposes. 

Site

The practice is on the ground floor of the dwelling known as 20 Laithwaite Close, 
Cockermouth. The building is currently used as a dwelling and part used as a home 
based work chiropody/ podiatry practice. 

The dwelling is part of a small housing development served by a private access road 
which is accessed from the adopted highway off Laithwaite Close. The private access 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



road is also used by pedestrians to access the railway line as a footway to nearby shops 
and the town centre. 

There will be no external alterations to the building and the business will have its own 
separate access as existing.

Relevant Policies

National Planning Policy Framework 2012

8. Promoting healthy communities

Allerdale Local plan Part 1 adopted July 2014
S1- Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S2 - Sustainable Development Principles
S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
S22 - Transport Principles
S32 - Safeguarding Amenity

Relevant Planning History

2/2015/0533 Outline application for the erection of a single dwelling/ bungalow (approved 
dwelling adjacent site but not implemented).
2/2017/0182 Application for reserved matters following outline approval 2/2015/0533
PPA 2012 Applicant advised by letter an ancillary use of the domestic dwelling for a 
podiatry clinic acceptable.
Representations

Cockermouth Town Council - No objections
Cumbria Highways - No objections
Local Lead Flood Authority - Environment Agency surface water maps do not indicate the 
site is in an area of risk.
Fire Officer - Recommend a sprinkler system

The application has been advertised on site and adjoining properties have been notified. 
7 letters of objections have been received to date. The following concerns have been 
raised.

- Concern about existing and proposed traffic movements;
- Lack of parking for staff, domestic and delivery vehicles;
- Common boundaries have been moved between the approved housing site and 

20 Laithwaite Close;
- The car visitor movements per year would double from 3,200 movements to 7,200 

movements;
- The application seeks to formalise a use that has been operating for 5 years 

without a formal consent;
- The increased level of business would exacerbate the ongoing noise and 

nuisance;
- There would be significant detrimental impact on neighbours quiet enjoyment and  

Page 24



further loss of amenity and impact on safety;
- There lane is also a public right of way;
- The road is falling into disrepair;
- Nothing to control speed of delivery vehicles;
- Vehicles passing use neighbouring land to pass;
- The business is currently advertised locally as late night opening;
- The business should be located at a business park;
- There have been accidents on the private lane involving delivery vehicles and  

cars;
- Concern that emergency treatment arrangements on Sundays and  Bank holidays 

currently advertised;
- Continued concern regarding the nuisance caused by visitors, staff from the 

business use from the use of 2 rooms.
- The current request regarding the permitted hours of operation reflects yet another 

change and a further increase in the hours and days of operation over and above 
the working hours identified in the original application form and those indicated in 
the email of 4 January 2018 (hours have been extended from 5.00pm to 5.30pm 
every weekday, evening sessions until 7.00pm twice per month, and Saturday 
working increased from 2 Saturdays per month to every Saturday and from 
9.00am to12.00pm to 9.00am to 1.00pm ). A consequence of this proposed 
increase in working hours will be an increase in the volume of vehicular traffic. It is 
requested that formalisation is restricted to the existing hours of operation at the 
level indicated in the original application but with the removal of the occasional 
evening sessions (after 5pm). This would have the effect of eliminating any
increase in the current level of vehicular traffic and remove the nuisance at times 
when those local residents are likely to be most affected.

- Responses from the residents of 17, 18 and 19 Laithwaite Close (those most 
affected by the business) have clearly and consistently indicated concerns 
regarding the impact of a business of this nature operating in what is an 
exclusively residential area and the submissions have highlighted concerns in 
relation to the detrimental impact of the existing level of traffic movements. The 
view remains that such a business should be operating from a location intended 
and suitable for business use rather than allowing the permanent operation of a 
business from this wholly residential area.

- There are plenty of small businesses set up in specific business parks such as 
Lakeland Business Park or Europa Business Park in Cockermouth which are 
ideally designed for this type of business and does not affect any residential areas.

4 letters of support setting out the practice is of a benefit to the community.

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act Local Financial 
Considerations relate to Business Rates Revenues.

Assessment

There are currently 3 part time staff employed and the applicant advises the practice is 
currently visited on average by 13 patients daily Monday-Friday (9am to 5pm) and 

Page 25



patients arrive separately every 30 minutes.

Initially the proposal was to expand the D1 use within the premises to provide 3 rooms 
associated with the podiatry/ chiropody practice, (2 clinic rooms and 1 reception room) 
however in response to neighbour concerns regarding the uplift of users of the private 
lane and objectors concerns regarding residential amenity and parking, particularly from 
residents within the cul-de-sac, the scheme has been amended. The scheme now seeks 
to formalise the current operations of the premises for 2 rooms only i.e. a single clinic 
room and a reception room.

Amended details now set out the proposed hours of operation as 9am - 5.30pm Monday 
to Friday and 9am -1pm on Saturdays and 2 late night evenings per month until 7pm on 
the 1st Tuesday and 3rd Wednesday. The practice being closed all Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. 

A key issue from neighbour objections relates to the loss of residential amenity by virtue 
of the coming and going of traffic associated with the business. The private lane currently 
serves 4 dwellings (including the applicant’s dwelling with the chiropody practice). 
Officers have also taken account of a further approved dwelling adjacent to the site 
2/2015/0533 (outline) and 2/2017/0182 (reserved matters) as a material consideration.  It 
is noted that the approval is not implemented.

The single unadopted vehicular access lane therefore serves 20 Laithwaite Close and 
potentially 4 other residential properties within the small residential cul-de-sac and there 
is also a historic pedestrian informal access onto the greenway from the lane.

Neighbour concerns relate to loss of residential amenity to dwellings that are served by 
and in close proximity to the shared private access lane; as a result of traffic movements 
associated with the podiatry/ chiropody business clients and staff. 

Officers note the private road is a single road of a tarmac surface. The shared driveway 
entrance is directly adjacent to 18 Laithwaite Close; in close proximity to habitable 
windows. The shared drive is also directly overlooked by the frontages of dwellings 
known as 17 and 19 Laithwaite Close however these are set back from the road with 
some garden and parking areas to screen the frontages from the access lane. There are 
no objections from Cumbria Highways regarding the access arrangements along the 
private road. Nevertheless officers consider that the use of 1 clinic room and a reception 
room with restricted days and hours of opening to be secured by planning condition could 
adequately safeguard the residential amenity of other residents within the cul-de-sac and 
users of the private driveway from noise nuisance and traffic movements associated with 
the comings and goings of vehicles of clients and staff of the podiatry/ chiropody practice.

To address neighbour concerns regarding the increased use of the private road and 
highway safety, a block plan has been provided to show how the site could 
accommodate in-curtilage parking and establish how vehicles could access and egress 
the lane safely in a forward gear. The parking arrangements as amended would be for 2 
patients, 2 staff vehicles and 3 domestic parking spaces. The parking and turning 
arrangements on site can be secured by planning condition.

The shared use of the premises itself would not necessarily detract from the residential 

Page 26



amenity of the host building and no external alterations are proposed to the building. The 
reduced on-site parking also provides a more attractive residential environment. 

It is therefore considered that a mixed residential/  D1 use that is of a modest scale may 
be a suitable use in this residential locality; given the use of only specific rooms for 
podiatry/ chiropody clinic uses within the property could be secured by planning 
condition.

Officers therefore consider a restricted scale of business to 1 clinic room and 1 waiting 
room with restricted days and hours of operation would satisfactorily maintain the 
residential amenity of nearby residents who are served by the shared private access 
lane. In particular this would safeguard the residential amenity of residents of Laithwaite 
Close and notably 18 Laithwaite Close where the access lane is in close proximity to 
habitable windows on the gable fronting the access lane.

Conclusion

The proposed restricted D1 use within this dwelling is considered acceptable and the 
scheme is recommended for approval accordingly subject to planning conditions.

Page 27



Recommendation: Approve 

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:
Amended Cover letter received 27 February 2018
Proposed Floor plan received 27 February 2018 showing 1 clinic room and 
1 reception room 
PL 01 - Location plan
Parking plan received 27 February 2018
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The approved D1 business use as identified in Proposed Floor plan 
received 27 February 2018 showing 1 clinic room and 1 reception room 
shall not operate on:
- Sundays or Bank Holidays;
-  Before 9am or after 1pm Saturdays.
-  Before 9am and after 5.30pm Monday to Friday inclusive except on the 
first Tuesday and second Wednesday per month when the business use 
shall not operate before 9am and after 7pm.
Reason:  In the interests of preserving the amenity of neighbouring residents, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

4. Vehicular parking spaces and a vehicle turning space within the site that 
enables vehicles to access and egress from the site onto the highway in 
forward gear shall be implemented strictly in accordance with Parking plan 
received 27 February 2018 within 2 months of the date of the decision 
notice. The car parking and turning space shall thereafter be retained at all 
times and shall not be used for any other purpose.
Reason: To ensure that the provision is made for adequate off street parking and 
there is a vehicle turning space to enable access and egress from the site in 
forward gear in the interests of highway safety.
Proposed Floor plan received 27 February 2018 showing 1 clinic room and 1 
reception room

5. The approved D1 business use shall be strictly limited to rooms as 
identified in Floor plan received 27 February 2018 showing 1 clinic room 
and 1 reception room. The reception room shall only be used for visitor 
waiting and administration purposes.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety.

Page 28



Location plan at 1:1250

P
age 29



Location plan at 1:2500

P
age 30


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting Tuesday 6 March 2018 of Development Panel
	5 2/2018/0042 - Land At Moss Bay Road, Workington - Variation of Conditions 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of 2/2011/0227 for amendment to play area position, boundary treatments and surfacing and to secure timing and implementation for completion of all works
	6 2/2017/0523 - 20 Laithwaite Close, Cockermouth - Proposed change of use of two residential rooms to accommodate a chiropody/podiatry practice

